FILED D. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

CASE NO. 85,920

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs .

MARK MARKS, P.A., et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

RI FlCHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, N921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, FL 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax # (305) 377-5655

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In Circuit Court Case No. 90-6433, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, the prosecution, through an amended information, charged multiple defendants - Marvin Mark Marks, a/k/a Mark Marks, Gary Marks, Carl Borgan, Irene Raddatz, a/k/a Irene Porter, Noreen Roberts, Denise Beloff, Ronald Centrone, and Mark Marks, P. A. - with multiple offenses, including racketeering, conspiracy to engage in racketeering, scheme to defraud, perjury, grand theft and insurance fraud. (R. 39). The insurance fraud charges were based on section 817.234, Florida Statutes, Several of the named defendants are attorneys and one is a physician. The alleged activities included: withholding unfavorable medical reports when making demands on insurers; preparing and submitting false medical reports when making demands on insurers; suborning client perjury; urging the exaggeration of pain and suffering by a client; and urging unnecessary surgery.

Count 21 charged Marvin Mark Marks and Mark Marks, P.A., with insurance fraud under section 817.234(1)(a), Florida Statutes. (R. 61). That count charged that the defendants committed insurance fraud, in that they "did., unlawfully and with intent to injure, defraud or deceive Allstate Insurance Company present or cause to be presented a written statement as

 $^{^{1}}$ "R." refers to the record on appeal in Foruth District Court of Appeal Case No. 94-339.

part of, ok in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contained false, incomplete or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim, to-wit: presented a demand letter to Allstate Insurance Company an behalf of Neomia Williams which intentionally and fraudulently excluded a medical report and test. . . " (R. 61).

Count 20, which charged the defendants, Marvin Mark Marks, Gary Marks, and Marks, P.A., with grand theft, did not include any of the foregoing factual allegations, but simply alleged that the defendants "did . . unlawfully and knowing obtain or endeavor to obtain the property of Allstate Insurance Company, to-wit: money, of the value of three hundred dollars (\$300) or more, with the intent to permanently or temporarily deprive Allstate Insurance Company of a right to the property or a benefit thereof, or to appropriate the right to their own use or the use of any person not entitled thereto. . . ." (R. 61). The offenses alleged in counts 20 and 21 were also alleged as predicate acts R and S in count 1, the racketeering count. (R. 46).

The defendants filed numerous motions to dismiss various portions of the information throughout the lower court

proceedings. (2R. 2 135, 159, 162, 165, 174, 209, 250, 401, 484, 615, 755, 805, 965, 1162, 1215, 1244, 1293, 1454, 1483, 1523, 1535, 1 539, 1547, 1575, 1647, 1846, 1872; R. 68, 97). Some of the foregoing motions and supporting memoranda focused on individual counts and the particular facts of those counts. Others were broad-based attacks on Florida's insurance fraud statute, section 817.234, Florida Statutes.

The motion to dismiss filed on August 13, 1990 (2R. 209), focused on three particular counts in addition to three of the predicate acts alleged in the RICO count. (2R. 209). That motion set forth several of the distinct arguments which the defendants would reiterate throughout the trial court proceedings. That motion presented the following arguments:

- 1. Section 817.234 invades the exclusive jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court to regulate professional conduct of attorneys.
- 2. Section 817.234 encroaches on the Florida Supreme Court's exclusive jurisdiction to enact rules relating to judicial practice and procedure.

² "2R." refers to the record on appeal in Fourth District Court of Appeal case no. 93-3259. That case involved a related appeal from the dismissal of other counts of the charging document, and the record in that appeal contains most of the pretrial motions to dismiss, responses thereto, and memoranda of law, which, to a large extent, were omitted from the record in Fourth District case no. 94-0339. The Fourth District, in its decision below, ultimately consolidated all of the appeals herein, but subsequent to the preparation of separate records on appeal.

- 3. Section 817.234(1) is unconstitutionally vague, with respect to its reference to insurance claims containing "incomplete" information.
- 4. Section 817.234(1) improperly criminalizes the mere submission of an "incomplete" c1aim.
- 5. The insurance fraud statute is unconstitutional unless it provides for reciprocal, automatic and full disclosure by the insurance company.

(2R. 209, 213, 221, 228, 235, 238). A subsequent motion to dismiss, filed on December 27, 1990, added additional arguments which were to be reiterated throughout the trial court proceedings:

- 1. Medical reports which were omitted from the submission to the insurance company were protected by the statutory privilege of confidentiality of medical records, under section 455.241, Florida Statutes.
- 2. Omitted medical reports were protected by the work-product doctrine and could not be the basis for an insurance fraud prosecution,

(2R. 615, 626, **637**). The defendants' arguments **were** predicated on the premise that the insurance fraud statute required full disclosure of all medical reports.

The Honorable John Ferris, Circuit Judge, heard legal arguments on these claims on August 16, 1991. (2R. 2035-2135). At that hearing, defense counsel made clear the basis for the defense's legal arguments regarding the insurance fraud statute:

Now, the insurance fraud statute . . . merely says if you want to voluntarily settle your claim you must give your adversary all your medical records.

2055; also, 2R. 2044). State emphatically (2R. see The responded that the insurance fraud statute did not require disclosure of anything; prohibited automatic it only concealment, in conjunction with an incomplete claim, when an omission was coupled with an intent to defraud. (2R. 2068). At this hearing, the parties discussed: the alleged conflict between section 455.241 and section 817.234; the relation of the work-product doctrine to the insurance fraud statute; the statute's alleged encroachment on the Supreme Court's rulemaking powers and regulation of conduct of attorneys; and other related matters. Defense attorneys also arqued that insurance fraud statute did not apply to attorneys, because attorneys, in not revealing matters to the insurance company, were simply acting in a customary manner, in accordance with the teachings of experts and continuing legal education seminars. (2R. 2090-2100).

At that hearing, Judge Ferris emphasized that no conduct violated the insurance fraud statute in the absence of an intent to defraud. (2R. 2100). He also deemed strained a construction of section 817.234(1), which asserted that the subsection did not apply to attorneys, insofar a3 that subsection referred to "any person" who committed certain acts with an intent to defraud. (2R. 2100).

Judge Ferris entered a written order, filed on September 3, 1991, rejecting the various claims of the defendants. (2R. 1081). That order stated the following:

applies to all persons, including attorneys, who, with fraudulent intent, submit false, incomplete or misleading statements to insurance companies as part of or in support of a claim. The court further finds that s. 817.234(1) applies to the insurance claims process before suit is filed, and that the statute does not invade the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to regulate members of the bar, or to enact rules relating to judicial practice and procedure.

The Court recognizes that while it may have been preferable for the legislature to have defined the term 'incomplete' in the challenged statute, this does not render the statute unconstitutionally vague. The court finds, under the facts and circumstances of these counts, that the element of specific intent required under s. 817.234(1) lends 'sufficient clarity to provide adequate notice of the proscribed activity to persons of

ordinary intelligence and understanding.' [citations omitted].

court rejects defendants' argument that the statute requires a claimant to include all 'statements', as defined by subsection (6) of s. 817.234, with a claim fox payment or other benefit to an insurance company, whether privileged or otherwise not What the confidential at the time. statute prohibits is the willful fraudulent omission, with specific intent, of information concerning facts or things material to the claim.

(2R. 1082-83). The order also proceeded to reject defense arguments based on reciprocal discovery and privacy arguments.

Id. In a separate written order, Judge Ferris rejected the defense arguments which were based on claims of confidentiality or privilege under section 455.241:

. . . The court finds that s. 817.234(1)does not require the automatic and disclosure of all the complete claimant's medical records, whether or not privileged, but merely prohibits a presenting, from claimant fraudulent intent, false, incomplete or misleading information to an insurance The court further finds that company. **455.241(2)** does not create a privilege in medical reports as that term is generally understood, see, 90.501, Florida Statutes, and does not apply in any event to medical records which are already in the hands of a patient or his legal representative. There is no conflict under the facts and circumstances of this case.

(2R. 1727).

After the entry of Judge Ferris' written orders, the defendants sought clarification or rehearing regarding the interrelation of the insurance fraud statute, section 455.241 and the work-product doctrine. (2R. 1108-12, 1113-18). At a hearing on October 17, 1991, Judge Ferris stated that "[n]othing in the court's order upholding the constitutionality of 817.234 abrogated work product ok attorney/client, " (2R. 2234). He embellished upon this:

All I have said is that 817.234 is constitutionally valid and facially is valid and is designed to cure a stated ill in the statute and is validly done. That's all that I've said. And you keep leaving out the essential predicate of that statute. And that is everything must be proved to be done with an intent And that is everything to defraud. It isn't that he leaves out a certain report or he doesn't give a certain receipt or something like that. That could be done very harmlessly and so that could be corrected. But if he does it with the intent to defraud that insurance company then he has violated in fact 817.234. . . .

(2R. 2236-37).

Subsequent motions to dismiss included modified versions of prior arguments. For example, in the motion filed on November 24, 1992, the defendants argued that:

- 1. The insurance fraud statute does not give attorneys fair warning of the consequences of exercising the attorney-client privilege, including the work-product privilege.
- 2. The statute creates confusion over what constitutes the proper exercise of the work product doctrine.
- 3. Customary practices of personal injury attorneys preclude application of the insurance fraud statute to them.
- 4 Requiring attorneys to prove documents are properly withheld, under the work-product doctrine or attorneyclient privilege, would be an impermissible shifting of the burden of proof.
- 5. It is improper for a jury to decide what is protected by the work-product or attorney-client privileges.

(2R. 1244-90). In another motion to dismiss, filed December 29, 1992, the defense argued that there was a conflict between the insurance fraud statute and PIP statute. (R. 68, 76-78). The essence of this argument was that under the PIP statute, if a claimant requests and receives the insurer's doctor's report, the insurance company is then entitled to every report from the claimant, yet, according to the defense, under s. 817.234, the claimant was obligated to turn over all medical reports as soon as the claim is submitted. This motion also included arguments based on fair notice to attorneys, arbitrary enforcement by prosecutors, and statutory conflicts. These arguments presented

variations of the theme that attorneys would not realize that the statute compelled them to disclose various documents during the course of their dealings with insurers.

In 1993, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in case no. 93-867, disqualified Judge Ferris from proceeding with this case. Circuit Judge Robert Andrews replaced him. The defendants immediately sought reconsideration of all of Judge Ferris' rulings regarding the constitutionality, scope and application of section 817.234, Florida Statutes. (2R. 1523, 1535, 1539). Various motions to dismiss were filed in July, August and September, 1993, reraising issues which had been presented in prior motions. (2R. 1547, 1575, 1647, 1779).

In a Motion to Dismiss the Predicate Acts of Count 1, counsel for Mark Marks, P.A., on July 21, 1993, again asserted that the insurance fraud statute conflicts with the PIP statute, regarding disclosure of medical reports to an insurer; and that the insurance fraud statute violates the due process principles relating to fair notice, arbitrary enforcement and reliance, (R. 97). Counsel for both the defendant and the State filed memoranda of law regarding this motion. (R. 115, 124, 225, 235).

At a hearing on August 20, 1993, Judge Andrews, sua sponte, presented his own theory regarding the problem of the insurance fraud statute. According to Judge Andrews, since the

unfair claim settlement statute, section 626.945(1), required an insurer to notify an insured of any additional information needed for processing the claim, the insurance fraud statute could not apply to a first-party insured (the party holding the insurance policy), with respect to the submission of a fraudulent, incomplete claim. (2R. 2453-54; 2484; 2455-56). At this hearing, the judge also grilled the prosecution regarding several extensive hypothetical scenarios, which the judge had developed prior to the hearing, and which the parties did not have advance notice of. (2R. 2449, 2451, 2463, 2478).

After this hearing, the parties submitted extensive memoranda of law, addressing issues raised by Judge Andrews, as well as other matters. The State's memorandum argued that:

- 1. The insurance fraud statute does not require automatic, absolute disclosure.
- 2. First **party** claimants can commit insurance fraud by fraudulent omissions.
- 3. A demand letter submitted by an attorney constitutes a claim under the insurance fraud statute.

(2R. 1808, 1814, 1829, 1832). Counsel for Mark Marks, P.A. submitted a memorandum of law which argued the following:

1. The information does not allege a violation of section 817.234(1) because the defendant had no independent legal

duty to disclose information which was allegedly concealed and therefore cannot be criminally liable for presenting "incomplete" information.

- 2. Section 817.234(1) applies only to first party claims, not to third party claims.
- 3. Section 817.234(1) does not apply to attorneys submitting demand letters to insurers.
- 4. An attorney's demand letter is not a "statement" under the insurance fraud statute.
- 5. Differential treatment of insureds and claimants under the insurance fraud statute results in a violation of the equal protection clause.

(2R. 1846, 1851, 1862, 1866-67).

Several of the issues were argued before Judge **Andrews** at another hearing, on September 27, 1993, (2R. 2489-2588). At this hearing, defense attorneys argued the following:

- 1. There is no violation of section 817.234 for counts charging incomplete information in insurance claims because there is no independent legal duty to disclose the information allegedly concealed. (2R. 2494-2508).
- 2. The insurance fraud statute applies only to first-party claims, not to third party claims. (2R. 2514). This argument was based on the contention that claims forms are used in first-party claims, but not in third-party claims.

- 3. If the statute includes third-party claims, there is an equal protection problem. (2R. 2543).
- 4. The insurance fraud statute is vague with respect to its interrelation with the work product doctrine. (2R. 2561).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge asked the parties to submit summaries of the various counts of the information. (2R. 2585). Such summaries were provided by the State and defense. (2R. 1922, 1932). The State also submitted an extensive memorandum of law, addressing issues raised in the various memoranda previously filed by the defense. (2R. 1940-61).

On October 15, 1993, an order was filed, pursuant to the defendants' motion for reconsideration. (2R. 1962-82). This order dismissed all counts of the information (and predicate acts of the RICO count) which involved third-party claims. (2R. 1981). The primary reasoning of this order was that section 817.234(1) was vague, insofar as personal injury attorneys representing injured third parties would not interpret the statute as applicable to their actions, (2R. 1966). The order then proceeds to embellish upon this, by explaining why section 817.234(1) applies only to first-party claims and not to third-party claims. (2R. 1967-74).

That order also found, in the alternative, that personal injury attorneys would not have reason to believe that

the proscriptions of the insurance fraud statute applied to them:

Assuming arguendo that the statute injured embrace third the statute plaintiffs, would eviscerate the settled and established practice of personal injury law that it would be unconstitutional due to its failure to provide notice. A change of this magnitude would require more notice to attorneys that their actions which heretofore were both legal and to some extent encouraged may be subject to sanction through this statute.

(2R. 1976-77). In support of this latter proposition, the court relied on various publications which advise personal injury attorneys to withhold unfavorable materials from insurers. The court rejected the State's contention that the specific intent to defraud, required by the statute, cured any possible vagueness problems:

In the case sub <u>juclice</u>, the scienter language does not rectify the statute's vaqueness because it is' not directed at source of the An analysis of precisely vaqueness. those cases which the State refers to in its memorandum reveals that ordinarily saves a statute from a vagueness challenge because it undercuts the notion that the accused was unaware the act violated the vagueness problem in the instant case because it is not conduct which is ambiquous. Instead, the ambiguity lies in whether the legislature meant to include third parties or alternatively, whether it is

reasonable in light of the statute's language that third party attorneys would know that they are to be included within the [sic] scope. None of the State's cases deal with this problem and the scienter language on which the State relies does not resolve this issue.

(2R. 1978-79). Based on the foregoing analysis, the trial court, in the October 15, 1993 order, dismissed multiple counts of the information. That order was appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in case no. 93-3259.

On January 27, 1994, Judge Andrews entered another order, dismissing counts 20 and 21, and predicate acts R and S of count 1. (R. 246-57). Judge Andrews defined the issue which was being addressed in that order:

The issue which this Court must confront is whether [an] attorney can reasonably be expected to know that omitting an unfavorable medical report violates the statute because it constitutes an incomplete statement with the intent to injure, defraud or deceive the insurance company.

(R. 250). The court found that the portion of the insurance fraud statute referring to "incomplete statements" submitted to insurers, did not apply to attorneys:

In light of the heavy emphasis placed on the attorney's duty to

represent his client's interest, provide sufficient statute does not This application notice to attorneys. of the statute ignores the fact that the personal injury attorney does the withholding of medical view reports, or any information unfavorable to his client, as inappropriate, much less criminal. The attorney's duty to zealously advocate his client's position the adversarial system is so entrenched that any modification of it must be wrought clearly and unambiquously. Ιf the legislature intended to reach such conduct, failure to declare it explicitly renders criminalization statute's fraudulent omission as unconstitutional applied to the attorney-client context.

(R. 251). The court's reasoning was based, in part, on the notion that a failure to disclose can be fraudulent only if there is a duty to disclose, and no such duty was found to exist herein:

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