IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 19 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner/Appellant,

V.

MARK MARKS, P.A., et al.,

Respondent/Appellee.

CASE NO. 85,920 T.C. NO. 90-6433CF 93-501 CF

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT. MARK MARKS P.A.

1

On Review from the Fourth District of Appeal and the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida, Honorable Robert L. Andrews, Trial Judge

> H. DOHN WILLIAMS, JR. P.A. 110 S.E. 6th Street, Suite 1710 P.O. Box 1722 New River Station Fort Lauderdale, FL 33302 (305) 523-5432

By: H. Dohn Williams Jr. For Mark Marks P.A.

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

Summary Of Argument

For the first time in the statute's two decade history, an assistant state attorney and a rookie investigator" with the Insurance Commissioner's Office developed a theory that **§ 817.234(1)**, Fla. Stat., requires a plaintiff's personal injury attorney when submitting an *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter to enclose all information arguably material to a client's claim; otherwise, the letter is fraudulently incomplete. This interpretation requires an attorney engaged in *initial* pre-suit negotiations to disclose all information **arguably** material to the damage claim, including work product and confidential medical records; otherwise, the attorney may be subject to criminal prosecution. If the State's theory is accepted, fear of criminal prosecution will create pre-suit open-file discovery. The assistant state attorney wants this Court to uphold his interpretation, so he can substantially reform the practice of personal injury law. (emphasis added)

The dismissed charges concern *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letters submitted by an attorney regarding clients' third party tort claims, or UM claims, Both of which are adversarial, third party claims for damages. The prosecutor says the "offer-to-settle" letters were fraudulently "incomplete" because they omitted information arguably relating to liability, loss, injury or expense. Even though the claimants and the insurance companies were engaged in an adversarial relationship, the prosecution opines the attorney must, before filing suit, disclose all arguably material information to his client's adversary. The prosecution's theory rejects the accepted, customary practice that during pre-suit negotiations adversaries emphasize the strengths of their cases and do not voluntarily disclose weaknesses. It cannot be over emphasized that all the dismissed charges concern pre-suit adversarial claims, before the post-suit civil rules of discovery enable parties to discover their opponents' weaknesses.

The lower courts correctly found: (1) that the statute does not create a duty to disclose all information arguably material to loss, injury or expense; (2) that the statute does not adequately warn attorneys that certain customary pre-suit practices are against the law, and (3) that the statute's vagueness as to what constitutes an *incomplete* claim means it is susceptible to arbitrary enforcement.

Additionally, the Firm believes the subsection (1) of § 817.234 is unconstitutional in its entirety, because it violates equal protection. The statute makes it a crime for a plaintiff's personal injury attorney pursuing a **third party damage claim** to submit a pre-suit "**offer-to**-settle" letter which withholds any information material to the claim. But, if the insurance company or its adjuster withholds material information from a claimant, they risk no jail sentence because the have not committed a crime. Such disparity of treatment is constitutionally

irrational.

Dismissal of the all or some of the charges is proper for two additional reasons. First, the statute punishes the submission of an *incomplete statement* in support of a claim. An attorney's pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter is <u>not</u> a "statement" within the meaning of **§ 817.234(6)**, Fla. Stat. Hence, it can never constitute an incomplete statement. Second, regarding combination PIP and UM claims, the statute conflicts with the PIP statute; thus, the more specific PIP statute controls the dissemination of medical records.

The theft charges should be dismissed because they are inseparably intertwined with the allegations of violating §817.234(1), Fla. Stat, The State theorizes that §817.234(1) creates a duty to disclose, or a duty not to withhold material information. Thus, a breach of this duty also violates the omnibus theft statute, which punishes fraudulent omissions. However, if §817.234(1) creates no such duty, there is no fraudulent omission, and consequently no violation of the theft statute.

<u>Argument</u>

Point 1

Attorneys would not perceive the customary practice of personal injury law violates § 817.234(1), because it is vague and fails to give adequate warning of what conduct is prohibited, such that it is susceptible to arbitrary enforcement.

In construing the vagueness of § 817.234(1), the context it which it is being applied must be stressed. The dismissed charges arise from a personal injury attorney's representation of clients pursuing adversarial, third party tort claims. All the dismissed charges concern the presentment of an initial pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter to the insurance company, regarding a tort claim, which failed to include all medical information relating to the claimant. All the dismissed charges concern pre-suit negotiations before the civil rules of procedure relating to discovery are applicable. For example, one charge *concerns* an *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter that failed to include as an enclosure the report of an expert retained by the Firm to evaluate the claimant in anticipation of litigation, The expert never saw, much less treated her. He only reviewed her **MRI**. While another charge concerns the submission of an *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter to the tortfeasor's insurance company which <u>omitted</u> a medical report prepared by a doctor regarding the claimant's earlier workers' compensation claim. Even though it was not enclosed with the letter, the tortfeasor's insurance company already knew about the report, because it had already obtained the claimant's workers' compensation records. (emphasis added)

Contrary to the State's **hypotheticals**, all the claims that are presently dismissed (ie. submitting incomplete claims) concern real accidents, real people being taken to the hospital, and a plethora of medical information being voluntarily given to the tortfeasors' insurance companies. But, in *the initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter some medical information was omitted.

Before considering the statute's vagueness and lack of warning of the consequences of withholding a medical report, this Court must keep in mind other related constitutional provisions, statutes, court rules, and precepts related to the practice of personal injury law. **First, medical information and hospital records are confidential by statute.** Elorida Statutes **455.241(2)** and 395.017 create a statutory privilege of confidentiality in medical information and hospital records. <u>State v. Wenger, 560 So.2d 347</u> (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); <u>Adelman Steel Corp.</u> v. Winter, 610 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). However, the privilege is not absolute and

there are exceptions, Absent consent, there are three pre-suit exceptions: (1) records may be furnished to the person who obtained or furnished medical treatment for the patient; (2) records may be furnished to the Department of Professional Regulation pursuant to its authority to regulate doctors; and (3) records may be furnished in a worker's compensation case upon request of the employer or its insurance carrier, however, the use of the records by the employer/carrier is confidential and the records are not discoverable in any civil or criminal suit. There is no pre-suit exception for a third party tort claim. (emphasis added)

Contrary to the State's argument, medical information and hospital records do not lose their confidential status, because the client/patient makes them available to his lawyer. The passing of confidential medical information from one confidant to another confidant, who are working in the interest of a joint client, does not vitiate the privilege. For example, the umbrella of protection of the work product doctrine extends to non-lawyers, or professional persons, such as accountants. Cannon 4, DR 4-101, (E), former <u>Code of Professional Resnonsibility; United States v Marvland Shipbuilding & Drvdock Co.</u>, 51 F.R.D. 159 (D.C. Md. 1975).

Second, medical information is protected by the constitutional right of privacy. There is a federal and state constitutional right of privacy in medical information. <u>Rasmussen</u> <u>v. South Florida Blood Service</u>, 500 So.2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1987); <u>Roe v. Wade</u>, 14 U.S. 113, 93 S.Ct. 705, 35 L.Ed.2d 147 (1973); <u>United States v. Westinghouse Elec. Corn.</u>, 638 F.2d 570, 577 (3rd Cir. 1980). (emphasis added)

Third, medical information may be work product. The work product doctrine was created by judicial decision and later codified.¹¹ The medical opinion of an "expert retained

in anticipation of litigation" is work product. <u>Wackenhut Corn. v. Crant-Heisz Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 451 So.2d 900 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>Myron v. Doctors General Ltd.</u>, 573 So.2d 34 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>Ruiz v. Brea</u>, 489 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986).

Next consider during pre-suit negotiations of a personal injury case, before the civil rules of discovery are applicable, medical information falls into three categories: (1) reports of "treating physicians" protected by § 455.241, (2) hospital records protected by § 395.017, or (3) reports of experts retained in anticipation of litigation protected by the work product doctrine. What other categories does medical information fall into?

The statute under attack

<u>Florida Statute</u> **817.234(1)** provides any person who, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurance company presents any written statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment of benefits pursuant to an insurance policy knowing that such statement contains any *incomplete* information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim commits a crime. The term "statement" is defined to include ", , .but is not limited to any notice, statement, proof of loss, bill of lading, invoice, account, estimate of property damage, bill of services, diagnosis, prescription, hospital or doctor records, x-ray, test result, or other evidence of loss, injury, or expense." **§ 817.234(6)**, Fla. Stat.

A. Vagueness

A two-tier test is used for evaluating vagueness. **First**, because we assume that man is free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, a law must give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly. Vague laws may trap the innocent by not providing fair warning. <u>Second</u>, if arbitrary and

discriminatory enforcement is to be prevented, a law must provide explicit standards for those who apply them. A vague law **impermissibly** delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application. Uncertain meanings inevitably lead citizens to steer far wider of the unlawful zone than if the boundaries of the forbidden areas were clearly marked. Gravned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 2298-99, 33 L,Ed.2d 222 (1972). If a criminal statute is involved, "no one may be required at peril of life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes. All are entitled to be informed as to what the State commands or forbids. " Lanzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 45 1, 453, 59 S.Ct. 618, 619, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939). The courts tolerate a lesser degree of vagueness in enactments with criminal rather than civil penalties. See <u>Wvche v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1993) (loitering ordinance void for vagueness, because it left to police the unguided task of differentiating between constitutionally protected street encounters and acts reflecting the state of mind needed to make an arrest).

F.S. 817.234 contains no guidelines of any type as to what information may be withheld, or must be submitted with an *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter regarding an adverse third party insurance claim. Most importantly, the statute is completely silent as to whether work product and confidential medical records may be withheld. The statute leaves to prosecutors the unguided task of deciding what information is privileged, confidential, or protected work product. For example, a client is injured in an automobile accident caused by an uninsured, third party tortfeasor. She complains of pain in the knee, <u>low back</u>, both legs, and arm. The treating physician opines a low back soft tissue injury. In anticipation of litigation and before

beginning settlement negotiations, an expert is retained to interpret an MRI scan of the low back. The expert never sees the client, or treats her. The expert opines the low back scan reveals no evidence of disc herniation. So, no claim is made for a herniated disc of the low back. The expert's report is not sent with the *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter. A claim for damages is made for a soft tissue injury of the low back (back sprain) in accord with the treating physician's diagnosis. Does the statute require pre-suit disclosure of the expert's work product opinion? It must, because this is the fact pattern of one of the dismissed charges.

The term *incomplete* is too open-ended when applied to an adversarial third party claim. If anything is omitted or not disclosed to one's adversary, in submitting the "offer-to-settle" letter, it may be deemed *incomplete*. Thus, an *incomplete* claim for damages can mean anything a prosecutor wants it to mean. An insignificant transgression or omission may be prosecuted, so long as it can be argued the non-disclosed information is arguably material to loss, injury or expense. Remember, the <u>original</u> **Information** included the allegation that the Firm failed to include the medical reports of two doctors regarding one of the charged claims. This allegation was abandoned after the Firm filed a motion to dismiss alleging that the reports were favorable to and supported the claimant's claim. The Firm argued that no one, not even an attorney, would withhold medical reports which supported a clients's claim. Even though the State refiled the charges eliminating the allegation, this insignificant transgression or omission resulted in the Firm being criminally charged with failing to disclose the two doctors reports.

The statute is susceptible to arbitrary application because of its "catch-all" nature, as demonstrated by the conflict between § 817.234(1) and the workers' compensation statute. F.S. 817.234(1) includes workers' compensation claims, but there is also a separate workers'

compensation claims statute.¹² It is worded substantially the same as the statute, **except**<u>it does</u><u>not include the term "incomplete."</u> The workers' compensation statute does not criminalize the filing of an "incomplete" claim. May an attorney representing a workers' compensation claimant file an "incomplete" claim without running the risk of criminal prosecution? No! An enterprising prosecutor may charge him with filing an "incomplete" claim under **§** 817.234. If the lawyer relies on the workers' compensation statute, he runs the risk of prosecution. If he is aware of this statute, the lawyer will err on the side of disclosing everything, including work product, rather than face criminal prosecution. Two statutes, worded substantially similar regulating the same conduct create confusion and the risk of arbitrary enforcement, where one makes it a crime to omit information and the other does not.

Vagueness is demonstrated by the fact that during the ongoing debate about the constitutionality of the statute, the assistant state attorney and the Attorney General differed about withholding medical reports, whether favorable, inconclusive or unfavorable. Originally, the assistant state attorney opined that <u>all</u> medical information had to be disclosed when submitting the *initial* pre-suit "offer-to-settle" letter. Again, the <u>oriainal</u> Information included the allegation that the Firm failed to include the medical reports of two doctors, which turned out to be favorable to the client's claim. The State recognized that no one, not even a lawyer, would withhold medical reports which supported a clients's claim. So, the State abandoned its simple counting theory -- report A was in the lawyer's file, but report A was not sent to the tortfeasor's insurance company, so a crime has been committed.

Then, the Firm challenged that the statute was unconstitutional in so far as it obligated an attorney to disclose privileged material, such as work product. So, the assistant state attorney again modified his argument. Now, he opined that a claimant's attorney must give the insurance company <u>all</u> medical reports relating to the claimant's condition, <u>unless</u> the attorney can establish to a criminal court jury's satisfaction the withheld report is "privileged or confidential."

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